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BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a forfeiture procedure against the Ameri-

can schooner Tahoma for violation of shipping

and customs laws of the United States. (46 U.S.C.A.



23, 41, 46, 60 & 808). The case was tried June 6-7,

1935.

The Tahoma was engaged in a foreign trade,

namely; transporting her catches of halibut from

the high seas and Territorial waters of the United

States to the foreign port of Prince Rupert and

shipping the fish through Canada to American

markets duty free. She was operated under a cer-

tificate of registry issued to her then sole owner

and master, W. Pierce, the claimant and appellant,

at the Port of Ketchikan, Alaska, in 1925.

On September 13, 1934, the Tahoma was seized

by the Coast Guard on the high seas and brought

within the jurisdiction of the District Court of

Alaska, libeled for violation of the laws afore-men-

tioned and released on bond to W. Pierce, Claimant.

The first cause of action, set forth in the libel,

alleges unlawful and fraudulent transfer, on or

about May 29, 1933, of the said vessel by Pierce to

F. E. Hunt, Ltd., a citizen and subject of a foreign

state, and the failure to surrender her certificate of

registry to the Collector of Customs for the District

of Alaska, in violation of Sections 23 and 41, Title

46, U.S.C.A.

The second cause of action alleges that the said

certificate of registry was unlawfully and fraudu-

lently used in a foreign trade by the Tahoma after

she was no longer entitled to the benefit thereof



by reason of the alleged transfer in violation of

Sections 60 and 808, Title 46, U.S.C.A.

W. Pierce appeared as claimant and filed his

answer to the libel, admitting all the allegations of

the libel except those as to the transfer of the ves-

sel to F. E. Hunt, Ltd., and the fraudulent use of

the certificate of registry.

The intervenors named claimed maritime liens

against the Tahoma.

The District Cqurt rendered its decision in the

suit, decreeing forfeiture of the Tahoma. W. Pierce,

Claimant and Appellant, and J. R. Heckman, Surety

on the bond for the release of the Tahoma sued out

their appeal to this Court.

The evidence shows that the Tahoma, prior to

May 1933 became heavily indebted to F. E. Hunt,

Ltd., and the intervenors, and that on or about said

time the said Corporation agreed with the inter-

venors and W. Pierce to operate the Tahoma for

the benefit of all concerned, pursuant to which

agreement John A. Johnson became the Master of

record of the Tahoma and W. Pierce became the

Master in charge of the American halibut schooner

WAVE. The agreement is set forth in libelants

Exhibits 1 to 8. (P.R. pp. 54-68).

ASSIGNMENT OF ERRORS

VL

The District Court erred in failing to permit



claimant to testify in answer to the following

question, to-wit:

"Q. Did you obtain permissiqu or consent
of the Treasury Department to the manner in

which you were operating the boat and fishing
with her?"

And in refusing to receive in evidence the follow-

ing letter from the Treasury Department of the

United States to W. Pierce, to-wit:

"TREASURY DEPARTMENT
Bureau of Customs

Washington

August 29, 1933

Mr. Winnie Pierce
P. 0. Box 396
Prince Rupert, B. C.

Sir:

The Bureau is in receipt of your letter of
July 29, 1933, in regard to the operation of the
gas ship TAHOMA as an American fishery.

The Bureau, after a careful consideration
of the matter, perceives no objection to the
Consul issuing free entry documents for the
fish taken by the TAHOMA at the present time.

The State Department has been advised to

this effect.

By direction of the Commissioner:

Respectfully,

(Signed) H. A. HAYWARD
Assistant General Counsel"

(P.R. pp. 259-260)



VII.

The District Court erred at the conclusion of the

libelant's case in failing to dismiss the libel and

granting judgment for claimant which was based

on the ground that the allegations of the libel had

not been sustained and on the further ground that

the evidence of libelant uncontradicted failed to

establish a degree of proof required by law to

warrant a forfeiture of the "TAHOMA." (P.R. p.

260).

X.

The District Court erred in finding as it did in

Finding of Fact No. 3 entered by the Court as

follows:

That on or about May 29, 1933, F. E. Hunt,
Ltd., a foreign corporation, a citizen of Great
Britain, (with the consent, knowledge and
agreement of intervenors herein) took over the
active control, management and operation of
the "TAHOMA" and the shipment of its catches
of halibut to American markets, in payment
of the indebtedness of said vessel to said cor-

poration (1) by removing the record owner
and master, W. Pierce, from command of the
'TAHOMA" and placing him in charge of an-
other American vessel, to-wit; the "WAVE":
(2) by making a colorable appointment of J.

A. Johnon, an American citizen, as master
of the "TAHOMA" for the sole purpose of deal-
ing with the libelant in matters pertaining to

and arising under the customs, navigation and
shipping laws of the United States; (3) by plac-
ing Anton Martinson, a citizen of Great Britain,
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actually in charge, command and control of
said vessel when away from Prince Rupert,
and (4) by receiving and distributing the earn-
ings and profits from such operations, and
sharing therein.

(P.R. p. 261).

XII.

The District Court erred in making the Conclu-

sions of Law it did in the above suit which were

as follows:

I.

That on or about May 29, 1933, at Prince Ru-
pert, B. C, the American vessel "Tahoma" was
transferred in whole or in part, by w^ay of trust,

confidence and otherwise, to F. E. Hunt, Ltd.,

a citizen of Great Britain; and that the said F.

E. Hunt, Ltd., thereby became entitled to the

whole or part or share of and became indirectly

interested in such vessel and in the profits and
issues thereof, and became the equitable owner
of said vessel.

II.

That thereafter and until the seizure of the

'TAHOMA" the said vessel was unlawfully and
fraudulently engaged in a foreign trade and
the said certificate of registry was knowdngly
and fraudulently used for said vessel when
she was no longer entitled to the benefit of
said register.

III.

That all the shipments of halibut made by
the said vessel or F. E. Hunt, Ltd., during all

I



the times mentioned in the libel were subject

to an import duty of two cents a pound under
the provisions of the tariff act (19 U.S.C.A.

1001, par. 717) and that such shipments were
made in fraud of the revenue of the United
States.

That the vessel "TAHOMA" became forfeited

as of May 29, 1933, to the United States under
the first cause of action, and as of September
27, 1933, under the second cause of action.

Because the Conclusions so made by the Court

were contrary to the evidence and law^ in the case

and unsupported by the facts, the evidence, and the

law applicable thereto. (P.R. pp. 262-263).

XIII.

The District Court erred in not making the fol-

lowing Findings of Fact requested by claimant.

I.

That W. Pierce, the registered owner of the

Oil Screw 'TAHOMA" did not, as alleged in the

libel, or at all, unlawfully and fraudulently
sell, in whole or in part by way of trust, confi-

dence, or otherwise, to a subject and citizen of
a foreign state, to-wit, F. E. Hunt, Ltd., the

said vessel "TAHOMA."

II.

That said "TAHOMA" did not, as alleged in

the libel, unlawfully or fraudulently engaged
in foreign trade, and the certificate of registry
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of the "TAHOMA" was not knowingly or
fraudulently used for a vessel, to-wit, the ves-

sel "TAHOMA," not entitled to the benefits
thereof.

III.

That the consideration of Pierce, owner of
the "TAHOMA" in permitting F. E. Hunt, Ltd.,

to take over the operation and management of
the "TAHOMA," was that Pierce should receive
the boat "WAVE" of the value of $500.00, with
which to make a living, for which considera-
tion Pierce agreed that the "TAHOMA" should
be operated in order that the indebtedness of
the "TAHOMA" could be paid off, and it was
further agreed between Pierce and F. E. Hunt,
Ltd., that if a sale of the "TAHOMA" could be
made. Pierce would consent thereto, and the
purchase price be applied in pa^Tnent of
Pierce's indebtedness and the remainder, if

any, be paid to Pierce.

IV.

That F. E. Hunt, Ltd., and the above Inter-

venors, did not agree to, nor did they at any
time, release Pierce from his indebtedness to

them, nor did Pierce at any time agree to per-

mit said F. E. Hunt, Ltd., and the Intervenors
to take and receive the "TAHOMA" for the boat
"WAVE" and payment of his indebtedness to

said corporations.

V.

That the arrangement made between Pierce,
F. E. Hunt, Ltd., and the Intervenors, for the
operation of the "TAHOMA" by said F. E.
Hunt, Ltd., was made in good faith and with



the honest belief on the part of all concerned
that said arrangement did not constitute a vio-

lation of law.

VI.

That there was no evidence in writing of the

sale or transfer of the "TAHOMA," or of any
interest therein.

V.

That after F. E. Hunt, Ltd., took over the

operation and management of the "TAHOMA,"
W. Pierce, Claimant, performed work on the

"TAHOMA," during the winter, or closed fish-

ing season and received no pav therefor. (P.R.

pp. 263-264-265).

XIV.

The District Court erred in refusing to find as a

Conclusion of Law that the American Oil Vessel

"TAHOMA," her engine, tackle, apparel, cargo, etc.,

did not become forfeited by reason of the matters

and things set forth in the libel or at all. (P.R. p.

265).

XV.

The District Court erred in entering its Decree in

the above suit decreeing that the Oil Screw Vessel

"TAHOMA," etc., was subject to forefiture and

should be forfeited. (P.R. p. 265).

XVI.

The District Court erred in finding and deciding

that there was probable cause for the seizure of the
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Oil Screw Vessel "TAHOMA," etc. (P.R. p. 266).

XVII.

The District Court erred in finding and deciding

that the burden of proof was cast on the claimant

to prove that the Oil Screw Vessel "TAHOMA," etc.,

had not become subject to forfeiture. (PR. p. 266).

ARGUMENT

PROPOSITION NUMBER ONE

At the conclusion of the testimony for libellant

claimant moved the Court to dismiss the libel on

the ground that the allegations of the libel had not

been sustained and that Ihe uncontradicted evi-

dence of libellant failed to establish the degree of

proof required by law to warrant the forfeiture of

the Tahoma. This motion raised the sufficiency of

the evidence and also the question of whether there

was probable cause for the seizure. In order to

decide that question, it is necessary to determine

whether the agreement established in libellant's

Exhibits 1 to 8 worked a forfeiture of the Tahoma.
At the conclusion of the testimony (P.R. p. 241) the

Court stated: "I think you understand my position

generally. It is this,—whether or not the facts and

circumstances, as proven are such as would work
a forfeiture, that is the real question in the case as

I view it."

So that the sufficiency of the evidence may be

determined, we feel it necessary to set forth the
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agreement contained in libellant's Exhibits 1 to 8,

respecting the Tahoma. The agreement entered

into, as shown by those letters, is that on May 18,

1933, it was evident that Pierce was not adapted to

carrying on successfully fishing from a boat the

size of the Tahoma. F. E. Hunt, Ltd., persuaded

Pierce to make a trade, taking for his equity a small

American boat that would cost about $2,500.00,

which would bring the entire indebtedness against

the Tahoma to about $11,000,00. F. E. Hunt, Ltd.,

stated they had one or two men in sight who would

take the Tahoma, providing the intervenors did not

disturb the Tahoma when marketing the catches at

Seattle. The intervenors stated in their letter of

May 31, 1933, (P.R. p. 58) they understood F. E.

Hunt, Ltd., had tied up the Tahoma and intended

selling or trading it to some other party who would

be more adapted to operating the Boat than Capt.

Pierce. The intervenors stated that, acting on the

suggestion of F. E. Hunt, Ltd., they would be on the

lookout for someone in Seattle who would be in-

terested in taking the Boat and making a down
payment of $3,000.00. June 5, 1933, F. E. Hunt,

Ltd., again wrote a letter to the intervenors (P.R. p.

60), indicating surprise that the intervenors had

not accepted its proposition. It stated in the letter

it would be willing to give the same extension for

payment of debts that the intervenors would give.

June 12, 1933, intervenors wrote to F. E. Hunt, Ltd.,

(P.R. p. 63), stating that they hoped F. E. Hunt,
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Ltd., would not feel the intervenors were unwilling

to cooperate in working the boat out of its indebt-

edness, and stated further that their understanding

was there is now approximately $8,500.00 against

the Boat and that you intended turning over to

Capt. Pierce a boat worth $2,500.00 which would
raise the total obligation to about $11,000.00. Capt.

Pierce to convey the Tahoma to you. The boat

would then proceed to work itself out of debt. And
on June 17, 1933, F. E. Hunt, Ltd., addressed an-

other letter to the intervenors (P.R. p. 65), stating

that in accordance with decision of the intervenors

to cooperate with F. E. Hunt, Ltd., it had arranged

with Capt. T. Martinsen to take out the Tahoma,
and stating further that the debt of F. E. Hunt, Ltd.,

against the debtor must remain in exactly the same
status as it now is since foreigners could not have

an ownership interest in an American vessel and,

stating further, we will have a bill of sale signed in

blank, so that it could be used instantaneously if

so desired and, further, that as soon as work was
done on the boat which Pierce was to receive, F. E.

Hunt, Ltd., would send a statement to the interve-

nors, showing what the total indebtedness against

the Tahoma would be.

In addition to the foregoing agreement, Mr. G.

W. Nickerson, of F. E. Hunt, Ltd., who was called

as a witness by libellant testified further, (P.R. p.

76); "From time to time I sort of constituted my-
self their representative as well as our own, as we
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didn't want to see anybody lose money or Pierce

lose his boat; we were all about in the same jackpot

at that time—about a step ahead of the sheriff";

(P.R. p. 77) "When Winnie Pierce came in I saw

him and told him I didn't want his boat. We were

willing to do anything it was possible to do. This

'Wave' was there, and I could arrange to buy (P.R.

p. 78) Pete Petterson's equity; we thought we could

arrange, so far as Mrs. Kincaid was concerned, to

turn her over to him and change her mortgage to

the Tahoma. When the Tahoma paid out, if she

ever did, what she owed originally, and the balance

to apply against what I had against the Wave

—

that it would be all right with Mrs. Kincaid. I told

him—I said—the question is to make some sort of

arrangement with the Atlas Engine Company and

the Marine Ways in Seattle. I made it very em-

phatic to Pierce we didn't want to take advantage

of the unique situation in order to take the Tahoma
away from him. We knew he wouldn't try to steal

her from us. So far as we were concerned it could

carry on indefinitely. I wrote the Atlas Engine

Company (P.R. pp. 77-78). Then Mr. Nickerson

told Mr. Pierce they didn't want to take the boat,

but said, "I will write the Atlas Engine Company
telling them what you are prepared to do. You are

prepared to turn the Tahoma over to the creditors,

provided you can get this boat or some other boat

to operate and have it charged to the Tahoma."

That, it said then, he knew, as a Canadian subject,
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he could not take title to an American boat; that he

had customers in Seattle; if he wanted to camou-

flage the deal, he could have done so but at no time

was it in his mind that he was going to take the

Tahoma from Pierce or see him lose it; that Pierce

threw himself on the mercy of the F. E. Hunt, Ltd.;

that they had twenty other boats in difficulty and

were not taking them so why take the Tahoma;

'P.R. pp. 78-79-80 j; that in May F. E. Hunt, Ltd.,

wrote a letter to Captain Ingvold Erickson, on be-

half of Pierce, and offered the Tahoma for sale

for 512,000.00, iP.R. pp. 80-81): that F. E. Hunt,

Ltd., might loan Pierce the money for the inter-

venors claims and take chances on getting it out of

Ihe Tahoma when she m.ade it 'P.R. p. 82).

Mr. Xickerson testified that he made no arrange-

ment orally or by letters or overtures or suggestions

io the .Seattle creditors that he would have the Ta-

homa conveyed to him, i P.R. p. 85j: that his first

negotiations for taking over the operation of the

Tahoma was with the brother of claimant: that the

arrangement was based entirely on a conversation

with the brother: that claimant never told him that

he would transfer the Tahoma, nor did Nickerson

ever ask claimant to transfer the Tahoma by word

or letter: that Pierce was in a state of worry, that he

was willing to do anything that would give him

chances to earn a living: that he felt whatever was

best for his creditors was what he would be pre-

pared to do: that Xickerson never took a bill of sale

1
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from Pierce on the Tahoma; that he never had any

oral arrangement or agreement with Pierce by

which he was to convey the Tahoma or any interest

in it; that the conversation with Pierce was that F.

E. Hunt, Ltd., did not want to use their position to

deprive him of the Tahoma, that Ff there was any-

thing in the boat after the bills were paid; that F. E.

Hunt, Ltd., did not want any boats; that F. E. Hunt,

Ltd., did not take any bill of sale to the boat; that

it never intended to take a bill of sale unless they

forced the issue; that if a bill of sale had to be

taken, it would be in the name of someone entitled

to receive it; that Nickerson, as agent of F. E. Hunt,

Ltd., would not transfer a boat the Canadian Gov-

ernment would not accept, because the Company
would have a boat on its hands it could not do any-

thing with; that his firm had been interested in

transferring Canadian boats to American registry

and knew the procedure which had to be gone

through to do so; that after the arrangements men-

tioned in libellanfs Exhibits 1 to 8 had been nego-

tiated, Nickerson, on behalf of Pierce, endeavored

to sell the Tahoma for $11,000.00. (P.R. pp. 87-88-

89-90).

The foregoing constitutes what was purported

to be done by the F. E. Hunt, Ltd., and the interve-

nors, as was shown by the letters, and shows what

was actually done.

The testimony- for libellant further shows that

after F. E. Hunt, Ltd., had assumed the manage-
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ment of the Tahoma, it placed one Johnson on the

boat as Master and one Antone Martinson aboard

to actually do the navigating and fishing with the

vessel. The testimony further shows that a bill

of sale was executed by F. E. Hunt, Ltd., for the

Wave, on which alterations had been made, but

that said bill of sale was never used to actually pass

title.

Claimant contends that the circumstances of the

proposed agreement and what actually occurred in

pursuance to the proposed agreement was, F. E.

Hunt, Ltd., took over the management of the Ta-

homa, furnished the Wave to Pierce with which

he might make a living, transferred the indebted-

ness against the Wave to the Tahoma and thereafter

managed the fishing operations of the Tahoma,

accounting to the intervenors for the earnings

thereof.

The appointment of Johnson, as Master, under

the circumstances shown by libellant's testimony

was legal. For the purpose of determining the

sufficiency of the evidence to show probable cause,

or substantiating the allegations of the libellant, it

can be assumed that Johnson was appointed master

in name only; that the real master was Martinson.

The shipping and navigation laws on boats of this

type, provide the only qualifications of masters to

be—a citizen of the United States, over the age of

twenty-one years. Therefore, the appointment of

Johnson was in compliance with the law and an act
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which either Pierce or F. E. Hunt, Ltd., could legally

do.

Apparently the theory of the Proctor of Libellant,

and which was adapted by the Court, was that a

mortgage or transfer of the earnings of a maritime

bottom to a foreigner was tantamount to a viola-

tion of the statute under which the suit has been

brought. This theory is untenable. The statute

only prohibits the transfer or sale of an interest in

or sale of the boat itself. Giving testimony of libel-

lant its most favorable construction would show

absolutely no transfer or sale of the Tahoma in

violation of the statute. The arrangement clearly

shows that the creditors did what they had a perfect

right to do, and that is, with the consent and acqui-

escence of Pierce, they took over the management

of the Tahoma and the distribution of its earnings.

The theory of the prosecution, whicn was adopted

by the Court in its Findings, was a conspiracy was

entered into between F. E. Hunt, Ltd., the interve-

nors, Johnson, Martinson, Pierce and Petterson

—

the former Master of the Wave—to defraud the

Revenue Laws of the United States by operating

the Tahoma under her American registry. Unless

a transfer or sale of the Tahoma were established

under the proof of libellant in violation of law,

there could not possibly be anything unlawful in

any of the acts of the parties mentioned with re-

spect to the actual operation of the Tahoma. If no
sale in violation of law had been made, there could



18

be no violation of the Revenue Laws in failing to

pay the duty on the halibut delivered by the Ta-

homa. In other words, in the absence of positive

proof that an American vessel had changed owner-

ship, every single act of all parties concerned was

legal in every respect and they violated no law

whatsoever. The actions in appointment of the

Master of the Tahoma and the operation of the

vessel at worst can only be considered suspicious,

had there been an actual sale of the Tahoma in

violation of statute. There is nothing in the evi-

dence presented by libellant to prove that Pierce

was ever released from his indebtedness against the

Tahoma, including the increased indebtedness by

reason of furnishing him the fishing boat \Yave.

The evidence shows conclusively that no bill of sale

was taken; that Nickerson never discussed the

transfer of the boat with Pierce but on the contrary

show^s that F. E. Hunt, Ltd., insisted, through Nick-

erson, that the status of its claim against the Ta-

homa must remain as it was because of the statute

forbidding ownership of an American vessel by a

foreign person or corporation.

We contend that at the conclusion of the case of

libellant, the libel should have been dismissed for

the reasons herein mentioned and because the facts

proven did not work a forfeiture of the Tahoma.

The Trial Court was not justified, even, in finding

probable cause, because the testimony for libellant,

construed in its most favorable light, shows no
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more than that Pierce agreed that the earnings of

the Tahoma could be received by the creditors in

payment of his indebtedness. It could not be con-

tended that Pierce would not have the right to as-

sign the earnings from the Tahoma in payment of

his indebtedness, both to his American and foreign

creditors.

The motive ascribed by the Court to Hunt, Ltd.,

in connection with the arrangement proven, was

a desire or intent to defraud the United States of

its duty on the halibut. That is the inference drawn
by the Trial Court, and we submit that is is more
reasonable to infer that the motive was to enable

F. E. Hunt, Ltd., to transfer its indebtedness against

the Wave to the Tahoma and by controlling the

fishing operations of the boat have a better chance

of collecting its claim, consisting of prior indebted-

ness, and the claims of intervenors. That was an

honest motive in the exercise of good business and

surely the courts are not inclined to impute an im-

proper motive where an honest one is equally or

more susceptible of being inferred.

The motion to dismiss, as requested in claimants

assignment of errors (VHL P.R. p. 260) should

have been granted.

PROPOSITION NUMBER TWO

I shall treat assignment of errors X., and XII.,

(P.R. pp. 261-262-263) in connection with assign-
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ment of errors XIII, XIV, XV, XVI and XVII (P.R.

pp. 263, 264, 265 and 266), since they all relate to

the findings and conclusions of the Trial Court and

the failure of the Court to make the findings and

conclusions requested by claimant.

Should the Court determine that seizure was

made with probable cause and the motion to dis-

miss not properly taken, we respectfully contend

that the testimony was insufficient to warrant the

decree of forfeiture and that claimant has by his

testimony established that no sale or transfer of the

Tahoma occurred in violation of the Statute.

We desire to point out to the Court our position

with respect to the general rule in equity and ad-

miralty cases on appeal. The rule is that findings

of fact made by the Court in admiralty cases on

conflicting evidence will not be disturbed on ap-

peal. The Trial Court took the position that the

only question before it was whether the facts

proven were sufficient to work a forfeiture of the

Tahoma. We respectfully point out that the evi-

dence in this case is not one of conflicting testi-

mony but entirely one going to the sufficiency of

the evidence. This Court in the case of CHIQUITA
(44 Fed. 2nd 302 p. 303) stated: "The testimony in

this case was indefinite and not conclusive rather

than conflicting." This case is one that comes

within the same rule; therefore, this Court under

the law can determine whether or not the findings
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made by the Trial Court were supported by the

evidence.

It is respectfully contended that the finding made

by the Trial Court, assignment of errors X, (P.R.

p. 261) was not and could not possibly be supported

by the evidence. In that finding, the Court found

that F. E. Hunt, Ltd., took over the active control,

management and operation of the Tahoma; first by

removing the record owner and master W. Pierce

from the command of the Tahoma and placing him

in charge of another American vessel, the Wave;

and, by making a colorable appointment of J. A.

Johnson as Master of the Tahoma for the sole pur-

pose of dealing with libellant in matters pertaining

to and arising under the customs, navigation and

shipping laws of the United States. The testimony

does not show that Pierce was removed from the

command of the Tahoma. The record discloses

that this was done freely and voluntarily by Pierce,

that it was entirely satisfactory with him and that

no force or coercion whatsoever was used. The

portion of the finding, with reference to making a

colorable appointment of Johnson as Master, is

entirely unwarranted and unjustified and not in

accordance with the facts. In connection with this

finding of the Court, it must be borne in mind that

the act of placing Johnson on the Tahoma, as Mas-

ter, w^as entirely within the law and legal in every

respect, and the Court by using the word "color-

able" ascribed to that act a suspicious or fraudulent
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motive, which is entirely outside of the evidence.

(P.R. p. 261). Thus it is seen that the finding of

the Court when the two portions thereof, above-

mentioned, are taken from it, shows nothing ir-

regular, unlawful or contrary to law, and the Court

was in error in making the conclusion it did, name-

ly; (XII, P.R. pp. 262, 263) to the effect that the

Tahoma was transferred in whole or in part by

way of trust, confidence or otherwise; that the

vessel was unlawfully and fraudulently engaged in

trade and became forfeited as of May, 1933, to the

United States.

It is further respectfully contended that the find-

ings of the Court should have been as requested by

the claimant in assignment XIII, (P.R. p. 264) sub-

division III thereof.

The claimant requested the Court to find, in sub-

division IV of the XIII assignment (P.R. p. 264),

that there was no agreement between Pierce, F. E.

Hunt, Ltd., and the intervenors to take and receive

the Tahoma for the boat Wave plus the indebted-

ness of Pierce to said corporation and that the ar-

rangement made between Pierce, F. E. Hunt, Ltd.,

and intervenors was made in good faith and with

an honest belief on the part of all concerned that

said arrangement would not constitute a violation

of law; that there was no evidence in writing of the

sale or transfer of the Tahoma, or any interest

therein, and that after F. E. Hunt, Ltd., took over

the operation and management of the Tahoma,
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Pierce, the claimant, performed work on the Ta-

homa without pay therefor.

In support of the foregoing contention we will

detail briefly the testimony of G. W. Nickerson

and W. Pierce, given after the close of libellant's

case. Mr. Nickerson testified that after the Tahoma
was seized, he was in Seattle and spoke with Mr.

Wright, an officer of one of the intervenors; that

he did not ask Mr. Wright to help him out of the

hole but suggested that Mr. Wright and the other

interested parties were American citizens and that

if the contentions of Mr. Nickerson were correct,

the case should be dismissed; that those gentlemen

should go to their Senators and Congressmen and

see what they could do; (P.R. pp. 190-191) that in

September of the year 1933 he addressed a letter to

Captain Egil Erickson, Seattle, offering on behalf

of Captain Pierce the Tahoma at $11,000.00, to

which Erickson replied, substantially, that if the

price were somewhere right, he might consider a

buy; (P.R. p. 196-197-198) that he never requested

any officer of the intervenors in Seattle to find

$3,000.00 to buy the boat to go fishing on and that

he was not a fisherman; (P.R. pp. 201-202) that

Nickerson had a dim recollection of the change in

the bill of sale for the Wave to Earnest Pierce,

that through his fault or the stenographer's Winnie
Pierce's name got there and was erased; there w^as

no effort to conceal; that the first bill of sale, being

one of libellant's exhibits, on which the erasure ap-
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peared, was not used; that there was another one

made up; ( P.R. p. 204) that he never complied with

the conditions mentioned in a letter from the x\tlas

Engine Compan3% dated June 12th, which was that

Captain Pierce was to convey the Tahoma to F. E.

Hunt, Ltd.; that on June 17th he answered the letter

of June 12th and stated "This Company's debt

against the debtor must remain in exactly the same

status as it is now, as foreigners cannot have an

ownership interest in an American vessel"; (P.R.

p. 205,1 that he never had an agreement with Pierce

that he would take a conveyance—mental or other-

wise; that he felt if it was necessary for his Com-

pany and the other creditors that Pierce would give

a conveyance to be used for the advantage of the

creditors; he could be compelled to do so; (P.R. p.

206) that there was no arrangement with Mr. Pierce,

either by conversation or wTiting, whereby the

boat was transferred to us; he never said in his

letter he was going to; that what he did say was

what Pierce was prepared to do and did say he

would take a blank bill of sale, not for F. E. Hunt,

Ltd., but it would have to be decided from a legal

standpoint who could take the bill of sale; that from

the time he wrote the letter to the intervenors noth-

ing was ever done; that Pierce was never ap-

proached for bill of sale; that, in fact, he told Pierce

several times "Hold on to the boat"; that he felt

there would be something in it for Pierce; that he

never took a bill or sale; never agreed to take over
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the boat; that he had accounted to the Seattle cred-

itors for the earnings of the Tahoma; that his Com-

psLuy tried to split the earnings on the same basis;

(P.R. pp. 210-211) tliat he felt if his Company
wanted to, they could have sued Pierce and at-

tached the boat; that they did not want to do that;

(P.R. p. 212) that it was cheaper to acquire the

Wave for Pierce the way it was done than going to

Court; (P.R. p. 213) that he effected the transfer

from the Tahoma to the Wave voluntarily on the

part of Pierce; (P.R. p. 219) that a bill of sale was

to be signed by Pierce so that if they got a chance

to sell the boat, or clean it up, it could be done with-

out delay; that the bill of sale could be used instan-

taneously if desired so it could be sold at once; if a

fisherman wanted a boat he w^ould want it then;

(P.R. pp. 222-223) that the consideration for taking

over the operation of the Tahoma was that it would

be operated by F. E. Hunt, Ltd., for the benefit of

the creditors, as agents, and if there was an oppor-

tunity to sell her legally, to sell her for the benefit

of the creditors and if there was anything left.

Pierce would get it. (P.R. p. 225).

Winnie Pierce testified that he had lived in Prince

Rupert since 1923; that he was a married man; an

American citizen; that his business was fishing;

that he hadn't been very well in the spring and

talked the matter of the Tahoma over with his

brother; that he told his brother what he would like

to do and asked him to make the arrangements;
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that he made the arrangement with Nickerson; that

the arrangement was—Pierce wanted to get some-

body in the boat who would make more money than

he could; (P.R. p. 227-228-229) that he never signed

any paper, agreements or bill of sale with Nicker-

son on the Tahoma; that there never was any talk

about a bill of sale; that there never was any talk

about buying the Tahoma or taking it over to own
themselves; that he never agreed at any time to sell

the Tahoma or any part; that there was never any

talk with an3^body from F. E. Hunt, Ltd., relating

to the sale of the Tahoma or anybody else; that no

one ever asked him to sign a bill of sale to the Ta-

homa; that he did not sign a bill of sale or any

paper in blank, conveying any interest in the

Tahoma; that he owned the Tahoma at the time of

the trial; (P.R. pp. 230-231) that since Pierce was

transferred to the Wave he interested himself in

the operation of the Tahoma; that he did overhaul-

ing of the engine and took care of the engine every

winter; (P.R. p. 232) that he went aboard the Ta-

homa often; that he didn't know exactly how much
he owed F. E. Hunt, Ltd. (P.R. p. 233); that the

agreement with F. E. Hunt, Ltd., was that they

w^ould operate her to try to pay her bills and keep

somebody on her until she could pay her bills.

(P.R. p. 234).

Pierce did not impress the Trial Court as a good

witness. There are often reasons appearing in

taking testimony why a witness creates an unfavor-
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able impression. In the case of Pierce it might

have been that he was not a well man; that he was

careless in his affairs or that he was heavily in-

volved during the depression which existed so that

he did not keep an accurate record of the transac-

tion in his mind of the exact indebtedness. His

testimony, however, is positive: That he never

agreed to or did execute any agreement whereby

any interest in the Tahoma, or any share or any

portion thereof, was sold or was to be sold to F. E.

Hunt, Ltd. We do not feel that the Trial Court was

justified in utterly disregarding the positive state-

ments of Pierce. It is true he had an interest in the

case, yet it is equally true that a man is not to be

disbelieved because he has an interest in litigation.

The testimony of Nickerson is equally positive

throughout the entire record: That no such sale or

transfer of the Tahoma occurred as alleged in the

libel. It is true that a proposal was made by Nick-

erson to take a blank bill of sale—this appeared in

the letters exchanged between Nickerson and the

intervenors. Nickerson explained his reason in

considering taking a blank bill of sale which was

that if a ready sale presented itself for the Tahoma,

the deal could be closed promptly. The salient

feature of the testimony of both Nickerson and

Pierce is that no sale was ever made and no agree-

ment ever signed. On the contrary, the testimony

discloses that Nickerson advised Pierce to hold on
to the boat for he felt there would be something in

it for him.
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Mr. Woodward, the American Consul at Prince

Rupert, whose investigation of this matter sprang

from waterfront gossip, introduced a bill of sale

from one B. A. Petterson to Ernest George Pierce,

being libellant's Exhibit XII, (P.R. p. 135), which

the testimony discloses was never used to convey

the Wave to Pierce. The theory of libellant, w^ith

reference to this bill of sale, w^as that it cast sus-

picion on the part of F. E. Hunt, Ltd., because of

erasures or alterations in the bill of sale. It must

be borne in mind that this bill of sale w^as not used

or never recorded. The fact that there might have

been alterations or erasures in it, which Nickerson

could not readily explain, should cast no suspicion

on the motive of him. This Court knows that legal

documents are oft-times changed before recording

and if every document could be impugned on ac-

count of alterations or erasures, a great per cent

of recorded documents would be subject to the

same suspicion.

We earnestly contend that had F. E. Hunt, Ltd.,

desired to acquire title to the boat, it could have

libeled the same in the usual manner at the Port of

Prince Rupert, B. C, and foreclosed the Seattle

lienors out of their claims against the boat. The

amount of money thereby saved would greatly

exceed the Court costs or any other cost incident

thereto. We feel that the true test of the question,

as to whether or not the Tahoma was sold or trans-

ferred to F. E. Hunt, Ltd., is this: Could F. E. Hunt,
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Ltd., on the testimony as disclosed by the record

have brought a suit against Pierce to compel Pierce

to execute a bill of sale to them for the Tahoma?
Could F, E. Hunt, Ltd., prevail in a suit for specific

performance, based on the agreement to sell,

claimed to have been entered into by libellant as

shown by the exhibits and the testimony? Cer-

tainly no one would claim that F. E. Hunt, Ltd.,

could or should prevail in such a suit against Pierce.

If not, the entire case of libellant falls. This

appears to us to be the gist of the whole controversy.

Because some of the acts of the parties appear to

have been irregular, the Court should not view

them all with suspicion. However, we contend

that none of the acts should be so viewed unless

they are actually unlawful. The Trial Court, we
contend, was in error in making the findings and

conclusions it did and decreeing the forfeiture of

the Tahoma. It is our opinion that the Trial Court

failed to distinguish the difference between an as-

signment, mortgage or transfer of the earnings of

the boat from an actual sale or transfer of the boat

itself.

PROPOSITION NUMBER THREE

The Court erred in failing to admit and receive

in evidence the letter set forth in assignment of

errors VI, (P.R. p. 259), which was a letter received

by Winnie Pierce x\ugust 29, 1933, after the alleged

sale occurred in May, 1933. This was a letter from
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the Treasury Department to Pierce, the claimant,

relative to the manner in which the Tahoma was

being operated out of Prince Rupert. The Court

refused to receive the letter in evidence, to which

refusal an exception was taken and allowed. (P.R.

p. 232) . It is the contention of the libellant that the

letter is admissible, not only because it shows the

United States, libellant in the suit, sanctioned the

operation of the Tahoma but because it shows con-

clusively that several times after the alleged sale

occurred Pierce was manifesting an active interest

in the operation of the Tahoma while engaged in

halibut fishing. If, as claimed by the libellant,

Pierce actually sold the Tahoma in May, 1933, how
can his actions be explained in interesting himself

in the operations of the boat? If he sold the Ta-

homa, as alleged and found by the Court, he should

have no interest whatsoever in the Tahoma.

PROPOSITION NUMBER FOUR

The District Court erred in finding and deciding

that the burden of proof was cast on the claimant

to prove that the oil vessel Tahoma had not become

subject to forfeiture. It is our contention that the

evidence taken as a whole does not warrant the

decree of forfeiture and that the burden of proof

did not rest with the claimant.

It must be borne in mind that the first cause of

action of the libel is for Sections 4146 and 4172

R.S.U.S. (46 U.S.C.A. 23 and 41). These statutes
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prohibit the sale of an American vessel to a citizen

of a foreign state, and require that when a sale be

made, the certificate be surrendered within seven

days, etc.

The second cause of action is based on violation

of provisions of Section 4189 R.S.U.S. (46 U.S.C.A.

60) and 41 Statutes (46 U.S.C.A. 808), in that the

Tahoma was unlawfully and fraudulently engaged

in foreign trade and the certificate of registry was

knowingly and fraudulently used for a vessel not

entitled to the benefit thereof, by reason of the sale

and transfer of said vessel, as alleged in the first

cause of action of the libel.

Obviously the second cause of action falls if the

first cause of action has not been proven. Because

if no sale occurred in violation of law, the second

cause of action likewise could not be sustained by

the evidence.

This is not such a case as the CHIQUITA 41 Fed.

(2nd) 842, and affirmed in the CHIQUITA 44 Fed.

(2nd) 302. In the CHIQUITA CASE, the libel was

for violation of Sec. 325 (46 U.S.C.A.) for engaging

in unlicensesd trade.

In this case the Court stated:

"But even assuming that the procedure simi-

lar to that authorized by said section 615 of the

Tariff Act of 1922 is applicable in libels under
Section 4377 of the Revised Statutes, neverthe-
less, I think it is not imperative to disagree
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with the Commissioner in his determination as
to the sufficiency of the evidence to justify
forfeiture of this yacht. It may be that a strong
suspicion which justifies a finding of probable
cause at the conclusion of libelant's evidence
could be enlarged in the mind of the Commis-
sioner so as to constitute a preponderance of
the evidence at the conclusion of the hearing,
but such is not necessarily the case, because it

may also appear that, although at the conclu-
sion of libelant's evidence probable cause is

shown, yet, when the adverse party goes for-

ward with his proof, even though it may not
be convincing, it may nevertheless be suffi-

cient to render forfeiture unwarranted. In
other words, the quantum of proof sufficient

to show probable cause may be lacking in that

probative force which justifies forfeiture of
propertv * * *"

41 Fed. (2nd) 843.

The decision inthis case was affirmed in 44 Fed.

(2nd) 302, and this court stated in deciding the case:

"In reaching this conclusion we have as-

sumed that there was probable cause for the

seizure and that the burden of proof rested

upon the appellee" and "The testimony on the

part of the government gives rise to little more
than a suspicion at best." and, "The testimony
in the case was indefinite and inconclusive
rather than conflicting."

In the case at bar the Tahoma was not libeled for

engaging in unlicensed trade.

We contend that the law as announced in the

Chiquita Case therefor does not apply with refer-

ence to the burden of proof.
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The CHIQUITA CASE supra, cites the case of the

Pilot 42 Fed. (2nd) 290, decided in 1930, long after

the passage of the Tariff Act, wherein the Court

stated:

"I prefer, however, to decide the case upon
the plain question of fact involved in the rec-

ord, and I am constrained to find that the gov-

ernment has not met the burden of proving
affirmatively that there was completed sale

and transfer within the meaning of the act."

The Pilot case was one wherein the boat was

charged with being sold to persons not citizens

without approval of the Shipping Board, and the

Court stated further:

"It seems to me clear that the purchaser
could not have proceeded against the buyer for

breach of contract if there had been a failure

to deliver the boat."

We have heretofore contended in this brief, that

F. E. Hunt, Ltd., could not have compelled Pierce to

deliver title or bill of sale to the Tahoma.

Again, the Circuit Court of Appeals, Fifth Cir-

cuit, in the case of the CHIQUITA, 19 Fed. (2nd)

417, which was a libel for sale to persons not citi-

zens, the Court in refusing to forfeit the vessel,

stated:

"The frequent changes of name and owner-
ship may give rise to the suspicion that the

ship's true ownership was sought to be con-

cealed, but property may not be declared for-
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feit on mere suspicion. It was incumbent upon
the government to show with reasonable cer-

tainty that the CHIQUITA was an American
vessel when proceeded against. That burden
has not been sustained."

"In forfeiture proceeding the government
has burden of proving false oath was made in
connection with application for license for
boat," see

The WINNIE, 58 Fed. (2nd) 653.

This was a libel instituted under the same Sec-

tions as in the Tahoma case.

The Court said:

"We are asked, however, to make a judicial

finding from the evidence that the libelant has
legally proven that a false oath was made when
the boat was registered. This we cannot do.
Moreover, if the burden was on the claimant
to prove the verity of the oath taken, we would
not find that he had met this burden. It must,
however, be carried by the libelant, and in this

it has failed."

THE BURDETT, 9 Peters, page 681, states the

rule of law in forfeiture cases as follows:

"If a fair construction of the acts and declar-

ations of an individual do not convict him of
an offense, if the facts may be admitted as
proved, and the accused be innocent, should
he be held guilty of an act which subjects him
to the forfeiture of his property, on a mere
presumption? He may be guilty, but he may
be innocent. If the scale of evidence does not
preponderate against him—if it hang upon a
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balance, the penalty cannot be enforced; no
individual should be punished for a violation

of law, which inflicts a forfeiture of property,

unless the offense shall be established beyond
reasonable doubt. This is a rule which gov-

erns a jury in all criminal prosecutions; and
the rule is no less proper for the government
of the court, when exercising a maritime juris-

diction."

This rule is set forth in the CHIQUITA 19 Fed.

(2nd) supra. The CHIQUITA case is cited in the

Notes of Decisions in 46 U.S.C.A., paragraph 41,

being the identical section which it is claimed the

TAHOMA violated. The Burdett case is also cited

under Section 60 46 U.S.C.A. at page 42 under Sub-

Paragraph 8, as follows:

"Procedure for Forfeiture, a Prosecution
under this section is a penal one and the pen-
alty may not be inflicted unless the violation

of the law is established bevond a reasonable
doubt."

This reference was made in the compilation long

after the passage of the Tariff Act.

We respectfully^ contend that the circumstances

do not even reveal suspicion, but even if this Court

decides otherwise, that no individual should be

punished for a violation of law which inflicts a for-

feiture of pr.operty. It is our contention that all

the facts and circumstances proven in the case at

bar are equally as consistent with innocence as they

are with guilt. Surely Pierce could have operated

the TAHOMA himself, and agreed that the earnings
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of the boat be paid to creditors on its indebtedness,

which is no more than the evidence discloses was
actually done.

As stated before in this brief, the Trial Court
failed to distinguish the difference between what
was proposed to be done by the creditors, as shown
by the letters, and what was actually done as shown
by all the evidence.

F. E. Hunt, Ltd., should not even be censored and
Mr. Pierce deprived of his property merely because
they all deemed it expedient and good business to

have the boat operated by some one other than

Pierce in order that the creditors would have a

better opportunity to collect their indebtedness,

and in the end. as stated by Xickerson, turn back
the management of the TAHOMA to Pierce after

the bills were paid. The Court's attention is di-

rected to the fact that the letters exchanged between
Xickerson and the Intervenors were written in the

usual course of business, and no effort made to

conceal the arrangement which was proposed, and
what was actually done thereafter.

CONCLUSION

We respectfully urge that for the reasons men-
tioned the decree of the lower Court should be re-

versed, and the suit dismissed so far as it pertains

to the forfeiture.

Respectfully submitted,

A. H. ZIEGLER,

Proctor for Claimant and Appellants.
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ASSIGNMENT OF ERRORS UPON WHICH
APPELLANTS RELY.

( 1 ) Assignment of Error VI, PR PP 259-2G(), set

forth in verbatim at PP 3-4 herein and presented in

Proposition Number Three at PP 29-30 of this

brief.

(2) Assignment of Errors VII and XVI PR PP
260-266, set forth in verbatim herein at PP 5-9-10

and presented in Proposition Number One of this

brief at PP 10 to 19 inclusive.

(3) Assignment of Errors X, XII, XIII, XIV,

XV, XVI and XVII, PR PP 261-266 inclusive, set

forth in verbatim at PP 5-10 inclusive herein and

presented in Proposition Number Two of this brief

at PP 19-29 inclusive.

(4) Assignment of Error XVII, PR 266, set forth

in verbatim at P. 10 herein and presented in Prop-

osition Number Four of this brief at PP 30-36 in-

clusive.

STATUTES INVOLVED.

R. S. SECTION 4146.

"* * * and if any foreigner, or an}^ person for
the use and benefit of such foreigner, shall

purchase or otherwise become entitled to the
whole or any part or share of, or interested in

such vessel, the same being within a district of
the United States, the certificate shall, with-
in seven days after such purchase * * * and if

such purchase, change or transfer of property
shall happen when such vessel shall be at any




